THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas

Clifton Newman Presiding Judge

2013-001479

The SPUR at Williams Brice Owners Association, Inc., Respondent,

v.

Sunil V. Lalla and Sharon W. Lalla, Appellants.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

S. Jahue Moore, Esquire
John C. Bradley, Jr., Esquire
Moore, Taylor & Thomas, P.A.
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, South Carolina 29171
(803) 796-9160
ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLANTS

RECEIVED
DEC 13 2013
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas

Clifton Newman Presiding Judge

2013-001479

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN RULING THAT THE HOA MAY ENFORCE A RESTRICTION HAVING NO REASONABLE BASIS AND WHICH DISCRIMINATES AGAINST A SPECIFIC CLASS OF INDIVIDUALS, I.E. CURRENTLY ENROLLED COLLEGE STUDENTS, WHEN THERE HAS BEEN NO DAMAGE TO OTHER PROPERTY OWNERS AND ECONOMIC CONDITIONS HAVE DEPRESSED CONDO VALUES SUBSTANTIALLY BELOW THEIR ORIGINAL PRICE?**
- B. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO HOLD THE HOA RESTRICTIONS NULL AND VOID DUE TO THEIR UNREASONABLENESS AND CHANGE OF ECONOMIC CIRCUMSTANCES.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an Order of the Honorable Clifton Newman, Presiding Judge of the Fifth Judicial Circuit dated May 23, 2012, and filed June 19, 2003. Judge Newman's Order found and ruled that Article XIV of the Master Deed and Restrictive Covenant prohibiting renting of a condominium unit at The Spur at Williams Brice to a tenant who is currently enrolled in a two (2) or four (4) year college, institute or university, and further prohibiting any tenant from having any roommate who is enrolled in a two (2) or four (4) year college, institute, or university, was valid and enforceable. Judge Newman's Order also enjoined Appellants Sunil V. Lalla and Sharon W. Lalla from renting or continuing to rent to any tenant who is a student currently enrolled in a two (2) year or four (4) year college, institute, or university or any tenant who has a roommate who is enrolled in a two (2) or four (4) year college institute or university. (R. 1).

Respondent commenced this action to enforce its Restrictive Covenant against Appellants on or about October 10, 2011, (R. 27). Respondent's Complaint sought a determination of the construction of the Master Deed pertaining to student rentals and also sought a declaratory judgment finding Appellants in violation of said deed (R. 27). Appellants filed their Answer and

Counterclaim on or about November 11, 2011, asking the Court to declare the restrictions null and void due to changed circumstances. (R. 35). The parties agreed to have the Court rule on the outstanding issues after submission of Briefs and Affidavits (Plaintiff's Brief dated January 15, 2013, with Attachments; R. 193) (Affidavit of Kelly Barnhill in Support of Plaintiff's Brief; R. 349) (Deposition of Ted O. McGee furnished to the Court on January 10, 2013; R. 179) (Affidavit of Sunil V. Lalla dated January 22, 2013, with Attachments; R. 307).

Judge Newman issued his Order on or about May 23, 2013, granting relief requested by Respondent (R. 1). This appeal timely followed (R. 367).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants Sunil V. Lalla and Sharon W. Lalla are longtime supporters of the University of South Carolina ("USC"). Because of their love for the University, they purchased a condo at the SPUR in 2007 for Four Hundred Seventy Thousand and no/100 (\$470,000.00) dollars. At the time of their purchase, the average price for like condos was in the range of Four Hundred Fifty Thousand and no/100 (\$450,000.00) dollars to Six Hundred Thousand and no/100 (\$600,000.00) dollars (R. 307). Based upon the representations of their sale's representative, the Appellants believed the condo would increase in value and be an excellent long term investment. (R. 307).

At the time they purchased the condominium, the Lallas had a daughter who was considering attending USC. It was their intention that during the time she was a student at USC, their daughter would be occupying the condo with two roommates. It was the Appellants' intention to receive rent from their daughter's roommates during the time she was at USC and living in the condo. It was Appellants' understanding that this arrangement would be allowed by the Homeowner's Association ("HOA"). Appellants would not have purchased the condo if their

daughter and her roommates could not have rented the condo or they could not rent the condo to other students. (R. 308).

In 2008, after their purchase, the bottom dropped out of the real estate market and through no fault of their own, their condo substantially decreased in value. (R.308) Appellants attempted to sell the condo but could find no buyers. They listed the condo for over a year and a half. Several times they took the condo off the market and put it back on in an effort to generate interest. Appellants did not receive a single written or verbal offer for their condo during the time it was listed on the market. At the time of the merits hearing in this matter, the condo had been on market for approximately four years. (R.307).

Selling the condo at a loss was not an option and in an effort to recoup their losses, the Appellants began renting their condo to college students in 2010. Appellants were aware that other units at the Spur were and had been rented to college students. (R. 309). Appellants presented evidence to the Court that they were facing the option of either renting to students or allowing the unit to go into foreclosure. Appellants notified the HOA of their decision to rent their unit to college students (R. 307-312).

Their renters are exemplary tenants. Each renter has a separate bedroom. One of the tenants is a former Miss Teen South Carolina. They are all over twenty-one (21) years of age (R. 310-311). They are good neighbors and properly maintain the condo. They have complied with all HOA rules. (R.309). There is no evidence in the record that the HOA received any complaints of any type regarding the Appellants' tenants. This condo rental meant one less vacant unit, slowing further property value losses. The rental income also provided maintenance funds. Had Dr. and Mrs. Lalla been forced to sell the condo at a fraction of its purchase price, the fair market value of the remaining units would have suffered.

This Homeowners Association (HOA) commenced this action against Dr. and Mrs. Lalla to evict their tenants, because the tenants are enrolled in college. The HOA restriction in dispute states:

The rental of any unit to any student currently enrolled in a two (2) or four (4) year college, institute, or university is strictly prohibited.

It should be noted that the HOA prohibition against college students is not universal. The HOA does allow units to be rented to college students as long as those students are a child or grandchild of an owner. Further, this college student may have an unrelated roommate who is a college student. (R.340). The Appellants presented expert testimony that these restrictions which distinguished between students was unreasonable and invalid. (R.185-186). Further, Appellants presented evidence that units have been, at all times, rented out to colleges students. (R. 309).

The HOA made no claims for damages. Their only claim is the violation of the written restriction by Appellants (R. 27-34).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An action to enforce a restrictive covenant is in equity. *South Carolina Dep't of Natural Res. v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 622, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302 (2001). As such, this court may view the facts in accordance with our preponderance of the evidence.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THE RESTRICTIVE COVENANT TO BE ENFORCEABLE.

A. THE RESTRICTIONS ARE UNREASONABLE.

The Trial Court erred in determining that the Appellants failed to meet their burden to establish that the Restrictive Covenant at issue in this case is unreasonable and unenforceable. A restriction though it clearly applies to the property and is unambiguous, will not be enforced if it

is unreasonable or if it serves no legitimate purpose. “These rules are enforceable... so long as they are reasonable.” 4 S.C. Juris. Condominiums § 25. Appellants submit that the restrictive covenants that prohibit rental of their unit to college students are clearly unreasonable and unenforceable and the Court erred in ruling otherwise.

This is an issue of first impression in South Carolina regarding unreasonable condo restrictions. The Ohio Court of Appeals previously addressed this issue regarding reasonable restrictions. They followed a three part reasonableness test which included the following:

The first question in applying the test of reasonableness is whether the decision or rule was arbitrary or capricious. This requires... that there be some rational relationship of the decision or rule to the safety and enjoyment of the condominium...

The second question is whether the decision or rule is discriminatory or evenhanded... we believe it protects against the imposition by a majority of a rule or decision reasonable on its face, in a way that is unreasonable and unfair to the minority because its effect is to isolate and discriminate against the minority. It provides a safeguard against a tyranny of the majority.

The third question is whether the decision or rule was made in good faith for the common welfare of the owners and occupants of the condominium... We believe good faith is an essential ingredient of a reasonable decision or rule.

Worthinglen Condominium Unit Owners' Ass'n v. Brown, 566 N.E.2d 1275, 1277-78 (10th Dist. Franklin County 1989). New Jersey has also required reasonableness in resolving condo disputes. “That is to say, the test of reasonableness is whether the interest of the unit owners as a whole are served, advanced, or protected by the board’s action.” *Billig v. Buckingham Towers Condominium Ass’n I, Inc.*, 671 A.2d 623, 629 (App. Div. 1996). Tennessee has also addressed a companion issue of consent of property owners to unreasonable restrictions.

When a person purchases a condominium unit they consent to having restrictions placed upon the use and improvement of their property for the benefit of the condominium as a whole. But no

owner is assumed to consent to arbitrary and capricious restrictions which achieve no positive benefits.

Association of Owners of Regency Park Condominiums v. Thomasson, 878 S.W.2d 560, 563 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1994).

The current prohibition against students at issue before this Court is clearly unreasonable in prohibiting college students from renting units for any reason under any circumstances while allowing college students who are children and grandchildren of owners or their roommates to occupy units.

There is no rational basis for this restriction. It does not provide for the safety or enjoyment of other condominium owners, because some students are allowed to occupy units under certain circumstances.

What this HOA has done is paint all students, no matter what age, with a broad brush. The Trial Court's Order accepted and approved this flawed reasoning when it held these restrictions are "rationally related to its purpose because it bars from the possible pool of renters a population the [Respondent] alleges has a tendency to engage in certain behaviors that are damaging to themselves and disruptive to those around them." This flawed reasoning labels all college students as hoodlums, irresponsible, and vandals according to the HOA and the Trial Court, *except* those who are children, grandchildren, and roommates of owners. A high school graduate who is employed fulltime could rent a condo, as could a high school dropout. The HOA cannot prove this restriction is reasonable because no proof exists. Enforcing the HOA's prejudice through the court is not a legitimate purpose. This rule has no rational basis, is discriminatory, is not made in good faith, and is therefore unreasonable. The Court erred in determining that the Appellants failed to meet their burden in establishing the covenant as valid

and enforceable because it is unreasonable in its face. The Trial Court erred in failing to find and rule that as a matter of law the HOA restrictions in this case are unreasonable and unenforceable.

B. THE RESTRICTIONS ARE DISCRIMINATORY.

The Trial Court erred in determining that the restrictions at issue in this case were not discriminatory. It is the policy of this state that the use of property should be non discriminatory. S.C. Code § 31-21-20.

The Legislature further codified this position in § 31-21-40(1).

It is unlawful:

- (1) To refuse to... rent after the making of a bona fide offer, to refuse to negotiate for the... rental of, or otherwise to make unavailable or deny a dwelling to any person because of race, color, religion, sex, familial status, or national origin...

The U.S. Supreme Court long ago addressed the question of private restrictions infringing on constitutional rights in *Shelley v. Kraemer*, 334 U.S. 1 (1948). The Court stated:

That the action of state courts and of judicial officers in their official capacities is to be regarded as action of the State within the meaning of the Fourteenth Amendment, is a proposition which has long been established by decisions of this Court. *Id.* at 14.

These cases demonstrate also, the early recognition by this Court that state action in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment is equally repugnant to the constitutional commands whether directed by state statute or taken by a judicial official in absence of statute... *Id.* at 16.

We hold that in granting judicial enforcement of the restrictive agreements in these cases, the States have denied petitioners the equal protection of the laws and that, therefore, the action of the state courts cannot stand. We have noted that freedom from discrimination by the States in the enjoyment of property rights was among the basic objectives sought to be effectuated by the Framers of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Id.* at 20.

The rights created by the first section of the Fourteenth Amendment are, by its terms, guaranteed to the individual. The rights established are personal rights. *Id.* at 22.

The Constitution confers upon no individual the right to demand action by the State which results in the denial of equal protection of the laws to other individuals. And it would appear beyond question that the power of the State to create and enforce property interests must be exercised within the boundaries defined by the Fourteenth Amendment. *Id.*

More recently in 2012, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin followed *Shelley v. Kraemer* stating: “With the extra step of judicial intervention, the Supreme Court concluded that judicial intervention constituted state action.” *DeBruin v. St. Patrick Congregation*, 816 N.W.2d 878, 885 (2012). Accordingly, *Shelley* concluded that when constitutionally protected rights were at issue and a contravention of those rights could not be accomplished without state action, court enforcement constituted state action of the type that was proscribed by the Fourteenth Amendment. *Shelley* at 97-98.

In 1976, the South Carolina Supreme Court explained equal protection in the context of a subclass within a class that was treated unequally pursuant to the Uniform Alcoholism and Intoxication Treatment Act. Portions of the Act were held unconstitutional as a result.

‘Equal protection of the laws,’ as referred to in both constitutions, is difficult to define and not susceptible of exact delimitation, nor can the boundaries of the protection afforded be automatically or rigidly fixed.

‘The guiding principle most often stated by the courts is that the constitutional guaranty of equal protection of the laws requires that **all persons shall be treated alike under like circumstances and conditions, both in the privileges conferred and in the liabilities imposed** (emphasis added). In some cases the principle is stated a little more fully so as to include also within its purview of equality exemptions from liabilities. The equal protection guaranty is intended to secure equality of protection not only for all, but against all similarly situated. Protection is not protection unless it accomplishes this. Immunity granted to a class however limited, having the effect to deprive another class, however limited, of a personal or property right is just as clearly a denial of equal protection of the laws to the latter class as if the immunity were in

favor of, or the deprivation of right permitted to be worked against a larger class.’ (Emphasis Added)

Thompson v. South Carolina Commission on Alcohol and Drug Abuse, 267 S.C. 463, 472, 229 S.E.2d 718, 722 (1976). The Court again in 1992 affirmed that all similarly situated property owners must be treated the same.

The record reflects, when viewed as a whole and in the proper posture, that there is substantial evidence that the circumstances surrounding the application of the respondent and the other three individuals granted permits are similar, and that the existence of respondent’s dock would create no effect distinguishable from that occasioned by the other three existing docks. While the three permits issued during the period immediately preceding respondent’s application may have been granted in error, absent a showing in the record that Council had taken appropriate remedial action and given due notice thereof, the respondent was entitled to be treated in the same manner as other applicants. We conclude that Council violated the equal protection and due process provisions of the state and federal constitutions in treating the respondent in a manner different from Beckmann, Cope and Crowley, thereby denying her a benefit granted to others similarly situated.

Weaver v. South Carolina Coastal Council, 309 S.C. 368, 375, 423 S.E.2d 340, 344 (1992).

The Trial Court erred by enforcing property rights that violated constitutional rights. The restriction upheld by the Trial Court is unreasonable, discriminatory, and seeks to prohibit an ordinary class of people from housing accommodations. This class of currently enrolled college students is indistinguishable from college students who are children and grandchildren of owners or their roommates. This class is indistinguishable from college students who are condo owners. The restriction seeks to discriminate against individuals based only upon their educational status while allowing those with the same educational status to occupy units.

There is no rational or reasonable basis for this discrimination. Respondent provided no evidence beyond allegation and insinuation in support of this discrimination. A drug dealer, high

school dropout, or thief could rent a unit while an engineering student, student teacher, and pharmacy student could not. An unemployed twin could rent a unit while his student sibling could not. An older individual returning to school to pursue a lifelong dream of obtaining a college degree would also be discriminated against. A student enrolled from Oregon could not rent a unit, nor could a student taking college classes over the internet, further implicating interstate commerce and the Commerce Clause.

Owners of each condo are treated differently under this restriction. Certain condo owners are allowed to lease their condo to their children and grandchildren who are students while other owners may not lease their condo to unrelated family members who are students. This is patently unfair and denies equal protection to those similarly situated.

A court may not enforce this restriction which violates the state and federal constitutional rights to housing accommodations. Further, a student from a statutorily protected class, i.e., race, color, religion, sex, familial status, or national origin, would be prohibited from renting a condo unit making this rule discriminatory on its face and unenforceable by the court. Disabled students, a further statutorily protected class, would also be denied access to this housing.

This restriction is simply a pretext to keep unwanted individuals and those the HOA finds objectionable out of the complex. The Court erred in determining that they were not discriminatory and in enforcing them.

C. THE RESTRICTIONS VIOLATE PUBLIC POLICY.

Appellants submit it is a well known public policy of this State to encourage the education of its citizens. Denying students the right to housing because of their educational status would have a chilling effect on this policy by potentially preventing some students from attending college. Affordable, convenient housing is necessary for all students.

The Lallas' tenants will be forced to obtain new housing in order to continue to attend college if the restriction is enforced. It may not be possible for these students to find adequate housing at a reasonable price resulting in their non attendance and inability to continue their education programs.

This restriction is blatantly arbitrary, capricious, and discriminates against college students of any age by denying them the right to choose where they will live simply because they are enrolled in college. It is unenforceable. The Trial Court's Order enforcing this restriction should be reversed by this Court.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING RESPONDENT MET ITS BURDEN OF PROOF THAT THE RESTRICTIONS ARE ENFORCEABLE BY THE COURT.

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