THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

2013-001479

The SPUR at Williams Brice
Owners Association, Inc. Respondent,

v.

Sunil V. Lalla and Sharon W. Lalla Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

D. Reece Williams, III
Brian Lysell
Callison Tighe & Robinson, LLC
1812 Lincoln Street
Post Office Box 1390
Columbia, South Carolina 29201 (29202)
(803) 404-6900
ATTORNEYS FOR THE RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

DEC 20 2013

SC Court of Appeals

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

II. The trial court did not err in holding that the Restrictive Covenant was valid and enforceable

Upon a showing by the Respondent that the restrictive covenant is binding on the Appellants, the Appellants bore the burden of asserting affirmative defenses to the Restrictive Covenant’s enforceability. *Circle Square Co. v. Atlantis Dev. Co.*, 267 S.C. 618, 628, 230 S.E.2d 704, 708 (1976). The trial court correctly ruled that the Restrictive Covenant did not contravene public policy; that it did not unconstitutionally discriminate; that it did not violate the statutory laws of either the United States or the State of South Carolina; that a change in market condition is not a valid defense to the enforceability of a restrictive covenant; and that the Respondent did not waive its right to enforce the Restrictive Covenant.

Furthermore, the trial court did not rule on the Appellants' argument that South Carolina should adopt a reasonableness test with respect to determining the enforceability of a restrictive covenant contained in a master deed at the time of a condominium unit's purchase.

a. The trial court correctly ruled that the Restrictive Covenant does not contravene public policy

The trial court properly ruled that the Restrictive Covenant does not violate public policy because it does not contravene the United States Constitution, the South Carolina Constitution, federal or state statutory law, or judicial decisions of this Court. In South Carolina, "courts will not enforce a contract when the subject matter of the contract or an act required for performance violates public policy as expressed in constitutional provisions, statutory law, or judicial decisions." *White v. J.M. Brown Amusement Co., Inc.*, 360 S.C. 366, 371, 601 S.E.2d 342, 345 (2004); *Sea Pines Plantation Co. v. Wells*, 294 S.C. 266, 270, 363 S.E.2d 891, 894 (1987); *Batchelor v. Am. Health Ins. Co.*, 234 S.C. 103, 107 S.E.2d 36 (1959). The Appellants claim that the Restrictive Covenant is impermissibly discriminatory pursuant to Article I, Section 3 of the South Carolina Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. They further assert that the Restrictive Covenant violates the South Carolina Fair Housing Law and the Federal Fair Housing Act. The Appellants have admitted that the enforceability of a restrictive covenant of this kind is a case of first impression for South Carolina courts.

1. The trial court correctly ruled that the Restrictive Covenant does not contravene the United States or South Carolina Constitutions

In general, the private acts and agreements of individuals do not implicate the Equal Protection Clauses of the South Carolina and United States Constitutions. Both the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 3 of the South Carolina Constitution guarantee that the State shall not deny any person the equal protection of the laws. U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1; S.C. Const. art. 1, § 3. By their terms, these mandates apply to state, and not private, action. However, when judicial officers of the State participate in their official capacities in the enforcement of an impermissibly discriminatory restriction, that participation “is to be regarded as action of the State within the meaning of the Fourteenth Amendment.” *Shelley v. Kraemer*, 334 U.S. 1, 14, 68 (1948). Thus, for a restrictive covenant to be judicially enforceable, it must not discriminate on the basis of a classification that, if applied by the State, would contravene either state or federal Equal Protection Clauses.

Use of a classification will be declared unconstitutional under the Equal Protection Clause only if its repugnance to the Constitution is clear beyond a reasonable doubt. *Taylor v. Medenica*, 331 S.C. 575, 578, 503 S.E.2d 458, 460 (1998). As a general rule, state action is presumed to be constitutional despite the fact that, in practice, some inequality results. *McGowan v. State of Md.*, 366 U.S. 420, 425–26 (1961). Accordingly, unless a classification warrants some form of heightened review because it jeopardizes a fundamental right or

categorizes on the basis of an inherently suspect characteristic, the Equal Protection Clause requires only that the classification be rationally related to a legitimate purpose. *Nordlinger v. Hahn*, 505 U.S. 1, 10 (1992); *Hendrix v. Taylor*, 353 S.C. 542, 549, 579 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2003). An inherently suspect classification is one whose members have faced a long history of discrimination, see *Palmore v. Sidoti*, 466 U.S. 429, 432 (1984), are a discrete and insular minority who would otherwise be unheard by the political process, *United States v. Carolene Products Co.*, 304 U.S. 144, 153 n.4 (1938), or which is drawn according to an immutable trait acquired at birth. See *Frontiero v. Richardson*, 441 U.S. 677, 686 (1973). Because college students have not faced a long history of discrimination and are not an insular minority, and because college admission is not a characteristic with which any person is born and is one that most people eventually shed, classifications based on a person's status as college student are not inherently suspect. Moreover, the Appellants have not implicated any fundamental right that the classification of college students would affect. Thus, rational basis review is appropriate to determine the constitutionality of enforcing the restrictive covenant in Article XIV of the Master Deed.

Challengers of the validity of state action "have the burden to negate every conceivable basis which might support it." *Lee v. S. Carolina Dept. of Natural Res.*, 339 S.C. 463, 470 n.4, 530 S.E.2d 112, 115 n.4 (2000); see also *F.C.C. v. Beach Commc'ns Inc.*, 508 U.S. 307, 315 (1993). Furthermore, "it is entirely irrelevant for constitutional purposes whether the conceived reason for the

challenged distinction actually motivated” its creation. *Lee*, 339 S.C. at 470 n.4, 530 S.E.2d at 115 n.4.

A classification bears a rational relationship to its purpose as long as there is some evidence that it will further a legitimate purpose. *Nordlinger*, 505 U.S. at 10; *Hendrix*, 353 S.C. at 549, 579 S.E.2d at 323. Thus, a classification will remain constitutional under rational basis review even if it is underinclusive, see *Ry. Exp. Agency v. People of the State of N.Y.*, 336 U.S. 106, 109–10 (1949) (stating that “[i]t is no requirement of equal protection that all evils of the same genus be eradicated or none”); overinclusive, see *New York Transit Auth. v. Beazer*, 440 U.S. 568, 592–94 (1979) (holding that the exclusion of participants in methadone maintenance programs from employment with the Transit Authority was constitutionally permissible despite the fact many in such programs would be able to perform the requisite job functions safely); or both. See *Vance v. Bradley*, 440 U.S. 93, 108–09 (1979) (holding that a mandatory retirement age was constitutional even though it was underinclusive in failing to remove from employment some younger individuals who were not qualified to continue working and overinclusive in removing from employment those who were older but still capable). Only if the use of a classification is arbitrary will it be deemed to be not rationally related to its asserted purpose. *McLaughlin v. State of Fla.*, 379 U.S. 184, 190 (1964); *Harbit v. City of Charleston*, 382 S.C. 383, 396, 675 S.E.2d 776, 783 (Ct. App. 2009).

The trial court correctly determined that the purpose of the Restrictive Covenant is to insure the comfort and safety of all residents and to protect the

investment of all owners. (R. p. 0008, lines 12–13.) The Restrictive Covenant is rationally related to its purpose because it bars from the possible pool of renters the substantial part of a population that has been shown by empirical evidence to manifest a tendency to engage in certain behaviors that are dangerous to themselves and disruptive to those around them. For example, college students tend to binge drink alcohol at a rate that is higher than among the general population. A report by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (“SAMHSA”) of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services found that the rate of binge drinking among college students was 36.9% in the year 2011. (R. p. 0266, lines 2–7.) By comparison, the rate of binge drinking in the total population was only 22.6%. (R. p. 0262, lines 24–25.) This amounts to a rate of binge drinking among college students that is 63.3% greater than it is in the rest of the population. College students also tend to use illegal drugs at a higher than average rate, and they have a higher than average rate of drug and alcohol addiction. SAMHSA reported that while the rate of illicit drug use among the total population was 8.7%, (R. p. 0244, lines 23–26), the rate among college students was 22%. (R. p. 0254, lines 29–32.) This represents a rate among college students that is more than 153% of the national rate.

The consequences of these behaviors also have been documented. High risk drinking among college students affects those in the community in which college students live. The communities in which college students who binge drink live are more likely to experience such negative secondhand effects as litter, vandalism, noise disturbances, violence, and sleep disturbances. (R. p.

0292, lines 35–38.) Binge drinking and other high-risk drinking are also associated with increased rates of sexual assault and rape, (R. p. 0293, lines 10–18), and a greater tendency for the drinking individual to be injured in fights and suicide attempts. (R. p. 0292, line 31).

Limiting the rental of units to individuals who have a higher incidence of engaging in the foregoing patterns of behavior protects the value of the investment that other owners have made in the Regime. Neighborhoods and communities that experience a higher rate of crime and nuisance are less valuable to prospective owners who are looking to make a stable investment. Moreover, the current owners of units in the Regime purchased their property with the knowledge and expectation that the Restrictive Covenant would be enforced. For them, the preservation of property values that the Restrictive Covenant helps to achieve is a material part of the bargain they struck with their purchase. To invalidate the Restrictive Covenant at this time would be tantamount to depriving the current owners of the benefit of their bargain.

While the Restrictive Covenant might be overinclusive to the extent that it bars college students who do not drink heavily or do not use illegal drugs and underinclusive in that it allows the children and grandchildren of owners, as well as non-college-student binge drinkers and illicit drug users, to rent units, neither of these facts undermines the Restrictive Covenant's reasonable relation to the purpose it seeks to achieve. As noted above, the fact that college students have the propensity for engaging in behaviors that can be both dangerous to themselves and disruptive to those around them is recognized. The trial court,

therefore, was correct to rule that the Restrictive Covenant is rationally related to maintaining the safety, comfort, and investment of owners in light of that recognition and so violated neither the United States nor South Carolina Constitution.

2. The trial court was correct to rule that the Restrictive Covenant does not contravene federal or state statutory law

The trial court also properly ruled that the Restrictive Covenant did not violate federal or state statutory law. Both the federal government and the State of South Carolina prohibit certain kinds of discrimination in the housing market, including the market for rentals. Under the federal Fair Housing Act and the South Carolina Fair Housing Law, “it is unlawful to refuse to . . . rent, . . . to negotiate for the . . . rental of . . . , or otherwise make unavailable or deny a dwelling to any person because of race, color, religion, sex, familial status, or national origin.” 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a) (2012); S.C. Code Ann. § 31-21-40(1) (2007). Within both statutes, familial status “means one or more individuals who have not attained the age of eighteen years and are domiciled with: (i) a parent or another person having legal custody of the individual; or (ii) the designee of the parent or other person having the custody, with the written permission of the parent or other person.” 42 U.S.C. § 3601(k); S.C. Code Ann. § 31-21-10(6)(a). Thus, discrimination in housing on the basis of familial status implicates the refusal to sell or rent to an individual because that individual is the parent or has legal custody of a child that would live in the dwelling. *See Glover v. Crestwood Lake Section 1 Holding Corps.*, 746 F. Supp. 301, 310 (S.D.N.Y. 1990) (holding, under the Fair Housing Act, that refusing to rent to a person because one of the

persons in the household was a child is unlawful discrimination on the basis of familial status). In order to successfully raise a violation under either the state or federal fair housing statute, the Appellants must show that the Respondent “discriminated on the basis of race or some other prohibited factor, not that . . . they just disliked” the Appellants’ tenants. *Harrison v. Darby*, No.: 2:08-3874-PMD, 2009 WL 936469, at *5 (D.S.C. Apr. 7, 2009), *aff’d*, 333 F. App’x 801 (4th Cir. 2009).

The Restrictive Covenant does not discriminate on the basis of any factor prohibited by federal or state law. Neither on its face nor in its application does the Restrictive Covenant prevent any person from renting because of their race, color, religion, sex, familial status, or national origin. Rather, the classification on which the restriction relies—status as a student at a two- or four-year college, institution, or university—is wholly unrelated to the classifications that the state and federal statutes protect. The restriction does not claim to apply, and does not in fact apply, because a person is white or black; Hindu or Catholic; male or female; with, without, or of child; Belgian, Bajan, or Cajun. Instead, it applies because a person is a college student who is not related to the unit’s owner. That classification bears no relation to a person’s race, color, religion, sex, familial status, or national origin, and a restrictive covenant that discerns among potential renters on the basis of that classification violates neither the South Carolina Fair Housing Law nor the federal Fair Housing Act.

Because the Restrictive Covenant is neither unconstitutionally discriminatory nor violates the laws of the United States or the State of South

Carolina, it does not violate public policy and the trial court was correct to deem it valid and enforceable.

3. Appellants' claims of error as to the reasonableness test are not preserved for appellate review

Where the trial court fails to rule on an issue that the appellant has raised before it, and the appellant fails to seek consideration of that issue pursuant to Rule 59, the issue is not preserved for appellate review. *Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc.*, 354 S.C. 100, 103, 580 S.E.2d 100, 101 (2003); *Talley v. S. Carolina Higher Educ. Tuition Grants Comm.*, 289 S.C. 483, 487, 347 S.E.2d 99, 101 (1986).

The Appellants raised before the trial court their argument that the law of South Carolina should incorporate a reasonableness test with respect to determining the enforceability of restrictive covenants in the master deeds of horizontal property regimes. (R. pp. 0042–0047.) While the trial court addressed the Appellants' contentions that the Restrictive Covenant contravenes public policy in that it is unconstitutionally discriminatory and violates the statutory laws of the United States and South Carolina, (R. pp. 0005–0010), and that the Restrictive Covenant should fail because of a change in conditions and because the Respondent waived its right to enforce them, (R. pp. 0010–0012), the trial court did not rule on whether the Restrictive Covenant failed under the reasonableness test that the Appellants proposed. The Appellants, for their part, did not move the trial court pursuant to Rule 59 for consideration of their unaddressed issue. Accordingly, the question of whether South Carolina should incorporate a reasonableness test regarding the enforceability of restrictive

covenants in the master deeds of horizontal property regimes has not been preserved for appellate review.

4. Appellants' reasonableness test is just another name for rational basis review

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